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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

WILLIE UNDERWOOD, lll,

Plaintiff,
Case #15-CV-684FPG

DECISION AND ORDER
ROSWELL PARK CANCER INSTITUTE
JAMES MOHLERIndividually and as Chair of
the Department of Urologyand Does 1-50,

Defendans.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Willie Underwood, Ill, M.D. (“Dr. Underwood”) brings this action to redy
alleged racial discrimination and retaliation by his employoswell Park Cancer Institute
(“Roswell Park™), hissupervisoy James Mohler, M.D. (“Dr. Mohler”), and Does50. In his
Amended Complaint, Dr. Underwood seeks relief under Title VII of the Civil RightsoAc
1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2080seq (“Title VII”), the New York State Human Rights
Law, N.Y. Exec. Law 8§ 29@t seq(“NYSHRL"), 42 U.S.C. § 198{'section 1981"), 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 (“section 1983”") New York LaborLaw sections740 and 741, the common law of
contract, and the Federal Healflare Quality Improvement Ac42 U.S.C. § 1110kt seq.
(“"HCQIA") . ECF No. 10.

Presently before th€ourt are motions to dismiss filed by Roswell Park and Dr. Mohler
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. ECF Nos. 15, 16. For the

reasons stated belotpth motions are granted in part and denied in part.
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BACK GROUND"

Roswell Park is a public benefit corporation that operates the Roswell Parkr Cance
Institute, a cancer research and treatment center located in Buffalo, NlkewE©F No. 10, at
11. Dr. Underwood, an African American surgeon, has been employed by Roswelh Riagk i
Department of Urology since September 2008l at 32, 33. Dr. Mohler, Chair of the
Department of Urologyis Dr. Underwood’s immediate supervisotd. at § 36. Dr. Mohler
reports to the CEO and President of Roswell Padk.at § 17. Does 150 “were employed by
[Roswell Park] and in such employment capacities, upon information and belief, had the fina
decisionmaking authority regarding the complaired acts against Dr. Underwood, and
authorized, participated in and/or ratified the complaioedcts against Dr. Underwoodld. at
1 12.

Dr. Underwood alleges that almost immediately upon being hired by Roswell Park in
September 2008, Dr. Mohler expressed a racial bias againstldirat § 54. In particular Dr.
Underwood alleges that on several occasions, both in public and private settings and both in the
presence of Dr. Underwood and the presence of others, Dr. Mohlstated that Dr.
Underwood’s success as a surgeon and a researcher were due entirely to hisbsanefaadhe
received througflaffirmative action. Id. at J 55. Dr. Mohlereferred to Dr. Underwood as “an
affirmativeaction program achievemeha “token Black”? and also used “other such terms with
derogatory meanings that are racially discriminatory to disparagemdlerwood’s credentials,

career and reputationfd. at § 56.

! The following allegations are taken from Dr. Underwood’'s Amen@ethplaint (ECF No. 10) andre

accepted as true for the purpose of evaluating the instant motions tesdismi
2 When Dr. Underwood was hired by Roswell Park, he became the foyditighremployee—and of those
four, the sole African Americanin the Department of Urologyld. at{ 37.
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In addition, Dr. Underwood alleges thBr. Mohler demonstrated a racial bias against
him by treating him differently than his white colleagues in numerous diffevaps. Those
dlegations are summarized below.

Income Disparity

At Roswell Park, the salary of Dr. Underwood and other physicians is determined by

multiple factors outlined in the Plan For The Management Of Clinical Practmmme At
Roswell Park Cancer Institute (“Income Planfyl. at § 78. These factors includemong other
things:the amount of fees generatedthg physican’s clinical practicethe extent and quality of
clinical, research, educational and administrative activities; academic andrgchobductivity;
and success in obtaining peeriewed grants and recognition by the scientific commuriiy.
at 11 79-80.

Dr. Underwood was assigned the task and responsibility for research pffgeatsng
on the major factors underlying health disparities among racial minorities aimditiesce of all
social, cltural, biological, behavioraland neighborhood factom those disparities.”ld. at
63. As a result of research proposals Dr. Underwood submitted on behalf of RosweDPRark,
Underwood was awarded two grants totalB@ million from the National Cancer Instityte
which is part of the National Instituté Health (“NIH”). 1d. at T 64. Roswell Parkeceived and
administered these grantsvhich led to national praise and attentiodue to the highly
competitive nature of the granttd. at Y 65-67. Aside from Dr. Mohler, Dr. Underwood is the
only Roswell Parkurologist to be awarded an NIH grant.Id. at § 68. Although Dr.
Underwood’s salary should have reflected his efforts in acquiring theilien NIH grants
pursuant to the Income Plan, he neweservedncomecredit forthe grants.ld. at { 86.

In November2009 Dr. Mohler reduced Dr. Underwdsdaccess to operative time,

patient referrals, and outpatient office hours, which adversely affectecbthputation of Dr.



Underwood’s salarynder the Incomel&n. Id. at  82. At the same time, Dr. Mohler required
that Dr. Underwood’s clinical production and earned income parameters remain unchianged.
Prior tothis change, Dr. Mohler never told Dr. Underwdbdt his performance was deficienrt
gaveDr. Underwood an opportunity to address amydequacieso he couldresume his former
schedule.ld. As a result otthe reductions in higvork assignments, Dr. Underwood received
negative evaluations from Dr. Mohler regardimg financial contributions to the Department of
Urology. Id. at | 85.

Also in November2009, Roswell Park hireda white surgeon in the Department of
Urology. Id. at f 87. Although this surgeon had significantly less experience than Dr.
Underwood, had no peeeviewed funding, and had fewer publications than Dr. Underwbed,
was compensated at a higher salddy.at 1] 87-90.

When Dr. Underwood learned of this salary disparity, he asked Dr. Mohlettify rieby
either increasing his salary to reflect his experience, clinic practice incacagemic
accomplishments, national recognition and contributions to Roswell Park and théniepanf
Urology, or in the alternativencreasing his salary to equbat of the white surgeonld. at § 93.

Dr. Mohler denied this requesand Dr. Underwood retained counsel to discuss his salary
disparity with Dr. Mohler and the Roswell Park administratitth.at 11 94, 96. Dr. Underwood
eventually secured a higher salary, batvas not prowded any retroactive pay astll did not
receivea salary equal to that of the white surgedd. at § 99 Dr. Mohleralsodid not restore

Dr. Underwood’s prior access to operative time, patient referrals or outpaffece hours,
which further increased the disparity between Dr. Underwood’s salary amnchiteesurgeon’s
salary. Dr. Underwood continues to receive a lower salary than this white sudgspite Dr.
Underwood’s peereviewed funding, greater number of publications and more extensive clinical

experience.ld. at 1 101.



[I. Interference with Academic and Research Duties

In October2010,Dr. Underwoochad met all institutional requirements for promotion to
the position of Associate &fessor. Id. at  103. However, Dr. Mohler delayed Dr.
Undewood’s promotior—and accompanying pay increasentil April 2011. Id. at { 104.
Neither Dr. Mohler nor any otherRoswell Park representativeprovided any objective
justification for this delay.ld. at 105.

In 2011, NIH scheduleda sitevisit to Roswell Rrk to review how the $gillion grants
were being used and their impaon local minoity communities. Id. at § 108. NIH
representatives expected Dr. Underwood to be present for the site visit beeawss the
Principal Investigator on the grantsd. at  109. However, Dr. Mohler refused to allow Dr.
Underwood to beresent or to participate in the site visitd. at § 110. Dr. Underwood was
embarrassed by this decision, professionally and personally,albeges that Dr. Mohler
prevented him from participatingecauseof his race and in order to cause harnhito career,
reputation, and salaryld. at 11 110, 112 After the visit, NIH submitted a report in which NIH
commented on the fact that Dr. Underwood was not allowed to be present for the sitedvisit a
demanded that Dr. Underwood be afforded adequateto participate in the activities funded
by the NIH grants, including future site visitisl. at § 111.

Sometime in March or Apri2011, Dr. Mohler instituted a “policy” in which physicians
in the Department of Urology were required to make up tinemtspway from Roswell Park
duties, including time spent engaging in academic pursuits and on vacdtomt § 113.
Although this “policy was referred to as a Urology Department Polizxyy,Mohler only applied
it to Dr. Underwoodand not to any of hiwhite colleaguesld. at § 114. This policpegatively
affected Dr. Underwood’s salaby makingit difficult for him to complete hi®ngoingclinical

and research work artdnderinghis ability to attain grants for future researchd. at § 115.



Becawse Dr. Underwood, unlike his white colleagues, had no direct control over the scheduling
of his office hours or operation timage had to find makeip time on his own to satisfy the
policy. Id. at § 117. Dr. Underwood informed Dr. Mohler aritdes superiors at Roswell Park
about the difficulty he was experiencirgut the policyremained in effectld. at 1 116.

Prostate Database and Kidney Database

In addition to his clinical duties and funded research, Dr. Underwood serirtheipal
Investigator of two different databasebe Kidney Database and the Prostate Datablasat
57, 61. Dr. Underwood was responsible for monitoring and managing the information abntaine
in these databases, which included information about surgeriesnpedf@t Roswell Par{such
as the diagnoses, protocols and procedures used, existence of any complicationsparasputc
Id. at  58.

On February 28, 2011, Dr. Underwood sent Dr. Mohled other relevant members of
the Roswell P& administration an emadutlining certain concerns Dr. Underwood had with the
Prostate Databasdd. at § 122. Specifically, Dr. Underwood was concerned that Dr. Mohler
and others at Roswell Park had acquired funding grants based uposemnggtiens that the
Prostate Database would be used in clinical research, even thelRyostate Databaded only
been approved for internal quality contamidhad not been approved by the Institutional Review
Board (“IRB")* for use in clinical resealc Id. at § 123. Dr. Underwood was also concerned
that information abouturgerycomplications was missingd. at § 129.The flawed datécould
potentially result in incorrect research, resulting in substantial and speaifger to the public

health or safety. Id. at 210.

3 IRB approval must be obtained before human data is used in clinical reskehai123.
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Althoughothers expressed similar concerns and agreed that something needed to be done
to protect the integrity ohte Prostate Databaseything was done teemedy the situationld. at
9 131. On August 17, 2011, Dr. Underwood resigned from managing the Prostate Ddthbase.

Although Dr. Underwood was deeply concerned about the accuracy and integhgy of
Prostate Database, he did not have those same concerns about the Kidney DS&bakat
135. Neverthelessin Septerber 2011, Dr. Mohler removed Dr. Underwood &&incipal
Investigator of the Kidney Databasél. at § 134. Dr. Underwood diabt learn 6 this change
until February 2012, when he was shown a memorandum to Roswell Park staff purpdogng to
from Dr. Underwood and stating that he was resigning fitben Kidney Databasend
transferring his position to Dr. Schwaab, a white surgaathe Urology Departmentld. at
138. Dr. Underwood did not write this memorandum, nor did he agree to transfer his position to
Dr. Schwaab or anyone elséd. at § 139. Later that year, Dr. Underwood requested access to
information in the Kidney Btabase for use in his research, but Dr. Schwaab denied the request.
Id. at § 145. Access and use of the Kidney Database is available to Dr. Underwbdd’'s w
colleagues, but remains unavailable to Dr. Underwdddat 1f] 146 15Q Without access tde
Kidney Database, Dr. Underwoasl prevented from conducting and publishing research based
on that datald. at  147.

When Dr. Underwood questioned the manner of and basis for his removal from the
Kidney DatabasdRoswell Parkepresentativeaccused him of verbally abusing a Roswell Park
employee. Id. at 1151. Dr. Underwood completely denied the allegaiand requested an
investigation.Id. at § 152. Although th&oswell Park Human Resources Departmg@HR
Department”) initiallyrefused to investigateghey eventually reviewed surveillance tapes and
spoke to potential witnesses after Dr. Underwood obtained legal coudseailt 1l 15356. The

HR Department ultimately concluded that all of the allegations against Dr. Usabrwere



false and unsubstantiatetd. at § 157. Despite the HR Departmentimdings, Dr. Underwood
was notrestored as Principal Investigator of the Kidney Datalaaskis still unable to access
that data Id. at f 16061
IV. Concerns About Patient Care and Reporting Complications

In March 2012, Dr. Underwood had a series of conversations with Roswell Park
representatives aboutis concern that Dr. Mohler and other physicians in the Urology
Department were not reporting complications and patient deaths for peer reviewegquired
Id. at § 163. When Dr. Uderwood stated that he would make a formal complaint about how a
particular surgery was handl&de was told by Roswell Park’s Vice President of Ethics that “if
you file a complaint outside of the institution, it's going to have ramification©nigt for the
person you file the complaint against, but for you and for the institute. You have to know that.”
Id. at § 165. Dr. Underwood understood this as a warning that his career woedghaielizedf
he madea formal complaint based upon the concerns he had rdided.

In December2012,Dr. Mohler againreduced Dr. Underwood’'sutpatiet office hours
and transferredh portion of his case load to a white surgeon who was new to the Urology
Department. Id. at ] 166-67. This further disrupted Dr. Underwods practice, limited his
access to work at Roswell Park, and negatively affected his cligntslelaying their
appointmentgo see Dr. Underwoodld. at ff 166-170. Dr. Mohler did not interfere with the
schedules of any of Dr. Underwood’s white colleesgy Id. at  169. Although Dr. Underwood
repeatedlycomplained to the Roswell Park administration about these disruptions in his practice
nothing was don& remedy theituation Id. at ffl 170-72, 178-80.

Also in DecembeR012,Dr. Mohler directed that Dr. Underwood’s office be moved out

of the Urology Department to aibding locatel appoximately half of a mile awayld. at § 173.

4 Dr. Underwooddlleges that by all medical standardshis surgery should not have been perforndeé to

the patierits medical history.ld. at{ 164.
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Dr. Mohler assigned Dr. Underwood’s previous office to a white surgeon newDefaetment.
Id. at  174. Dr. Underwood was only notified about the relocation 48 hoadvance, and
neither Dr. Mohler nor Roswell Parlever provided any reason for the moud. at § 175. The
new office was “uninhabitable” because it was dirty, lacked suitable furnitudés bocated in a
noisy area that was undergoing constructitth.at  176. Because h&as physically separated
from the rest of the Urology Departmeimcluding his secretary, this mowatso hinderedDr.
Underwood’s ability to communicate with the rest of the Urology Department andgaahe
logistics of the research he was conductitdy. Dr. Mohler did notsimilarly isolate any of Dr.
Underwood'’s white colleaguesd. at § 177.

In January2013, Dr. Underwood learned that Dr. Mohler had created a “deviation from
care report form” which he directef@llows to fill out and give to himafter any surgical
complication Id. at § 181. Dr. Mohler kept these forms in his possession, thereby preventing
complications from being reported through the official procéss.

In May 2013, Dr. Underwood met with Roswell Park’s CERgpswell Park’sVice
President of Human Resourc&qswell Park’s Medical Directpand Dr. Mohler Id. at 1 186.

At this meeting, Dr. Underwood called attention to the improper omission of conpisatata

in the Prostate Database and called for an external review Ofdlegy Department’s practices.

Id. at f 186-87. Although Roswell Park’'s CEO and Medical Director agreed that an external
review was in order, Dr. Mohler responded that “I just worry about our national rieputat
which is good, in whether this is a wigeng to do...we don’t need a bunch of people to look at
something and say this is not right.ld. at § 188. At this same meeting, Dr. Underwood
expressed his opinion that Dr. Mohler was failing to report complications oatmpes that he
performed. Id. at 1189. Dr. Underwood also stated that an external review would demonstrate

that he was being treated differently than his white colleagues in the Urokggprtihent. Id.



Although Roswell Park agreed to conduct a review of all cases in the UrologytiBep&arno
review was ever conductedd.

On June 4, 2013, Dr. Underwood met wiRbswell Park Deputy Director Dr. Candace
Johnson(“Dr. Johnson”) Id. at § 191. Dr. Underwood informed her that Dr. Mohler had lied
about his clinical performanceld. The next dayDr. Underwood forwarded an article to
Roswell Park representatives regarding the expected frequency of catopk in the
operations that Dr. Mohler had been performirid. at § 190. Dr. Underwood expressed his
concern that Dr. Mohler’s rate of complications were far higher than set out artitle, but
thathe had not reporteahypatient death for 2012 or 2013Id.

V. Peer Review

In January2013, unbeknownst to Dr. Underwood, Dr. Mohler initiated a “peer review” of
Dr. Underwoodtk cases Id. at 1 182. Dr. Mohler assembled a bindeselectcases in which
Dr. Underwood allegedly performed poorly and sent the binder to Roswell Park€EH@Dr.
Donald Trump (“Dr. Trump”and other members of the Roswell Park administratidn.Some
of the cases attributed to Dr. Underwood in the binder, including a case in whptidre died,
were actually handled by other physiciaidg. at  184.

In the binder, Dr. Mohleralso made false and misleading statements about Dr.
Underwoods professional conductld. For example, Dr. Mohler alleged thar. Underwood
had instructedhe fellows assisting him not to report complications that had occurred with
patients; that Dr. Underwood had not reported patient complications himself; that D
Underwood had made professional errors of judgment about patienaedréhat he halullied
fellows into hiding hignistakes Id. at 1 18485. Dr. Underwood alleges that Dr. Mohler knew

thattheaccusationf the bindemwere false Id. at 185.
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VI.

Dr. Underwood did not learn of the review until October 2013, when he was informed
that Roswell Park’'dMedical Staff Executive Committee had formed a subcommittee to review
the binder Id. at { 192. After the subcommittee reviewed the cases in the binder, they sent

seven cases to a panel of external reviewers with more expertise in the subjecoihtbhder

cases.ld. at § 192. Rather than send the entire record on each case, however, Roswell Park sent

only portions of the case files to the external reviewdts.The external reviewers were chosen
by Dr. Trump and Dr. Mohlerld. at § 194.

Dr. Undewoodalleges that theeview violated Roswell Park bylaws in several walgs.
at § 193. First, the thremember subcommittee included Roswell Park’s Medical Director and
its Presidenbf Medical Staff Id. Second, Dr. Underwood was not notified thaeview was
taking place until ten monthsfter it had been initiatedy Dr. Mohler. Id. Third, the
subcommittee did not interview Dr. Underwood or allow him to provide an explanation for the
cases included in the binddd.

Although severalwhite menbers of the Urology Department had worse clinical
morbidities than those in which Dr. Underwood was accused, they not similarlyscrutinized
Id. at 7 203.

Revocation of Staff Privileges

In November2013 Dr. Mohler refused to renew Dr. Underwood’s staff privileyesl.
at T 195. Dr. Mohler premised this refusal on the accusations in the binder and on Dr.
Underwood’s low volume of robotic surgical caséd. However, during this same time period,

Dr. Mohler had approved privileges for a white surgeon in the Urology Department @heo ha

° Staff privileges refer to a physician’s ability to practice medicine at dicaefacility. Id. at { 196.

Privileges must be renewed every two years] a denial or reduction of privileges must be reported to the National
Practitioner database atite New York StateBoard of Medicine.ld. A physician who has had privileges denied or
reduced must also disclose that fact to any medical establiskherg he or she attempts to work in the futuce.
Denial or reduction of privileges also makes it difficult for a physiciamettew his or her license or obtain a
medical license in another statel.
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lower number of robotic surgeries than Dr. Underwooltl. By refusing to renew Dr.
Underwood’s privileges, Dr. Mohler severely harmed Dr. Underwood’s professamaation
and hinderedib ability to obtainnew employment cadvance his careeid. at { 197.

In 2014, Dr. Underwood filed an Internal Code of CondbDamplaint alleging that Dr.
Mohler had made false accusatioims the peer reviewbinder regarding Dr. Underwood’
conduct with staff and fellowsld. at § 198. Dr. Underwood retained counsel, and a former
fellow testified in font of Roswell Park’s Vice President of Human Resources, Roswell Park’s
General Counsel, and Roswell Park’s Chief Institute Operation Qffideat § 200. The fellow
unequivoclly statedthat Dr. Mohler's accusations were false, that Dr. Underwood reported all
surgicalcomplications, and that one of the cases in the peer review binder involved an unusual
form of leukemia rather thaammistake by Dr. Underwoodld. The felow also stated that he
had witnessed complications in surgeries pengd by other members of the Urology
Department that were not reported or wegortednaccurately.id.

AlthoughDr. Underwood’s counsel had found other fellows who were willinggstify,
the HR Department refused to continue the meeting or permit more testihdoay.{ 201. The
HR Department found that Dr. Mohler’s accusations were “unsubstatitiather than false and
refused to take any action against Dr. Mohlek.at § 202.

In April 2014,Dr. Underwood met with Dr. Trump and Dr. Johnsdd. at § 205. Dr.
Underwood again expressed his concern that the Urology Department was not reporting
complications including patient deathgnd called for an outside review of all doctors in the
department.ld. Dr. Underwood was not the only physician in the Urology Department to voice
similar concerns.Seeid. at 1 128, 209. On June 18, 2014, Dr. Underwagminmet with Dr.
Trump. Id. at § 207. Dr. Underwood told Dr. Trump that Dr. Mohler had been treating him

differently becauseof his race and had made it very difficult for him to effectively care for his
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VII.

patients. Id. Dr. Trump told Dr. Underwood to “hang in there” and that he would get back to
him, but never did.d.
Advanced Training Course

In a letter dated July 24, 2014, Roswell Park’s Vice President of Human Resources
confirmed that there was no evidence supporting Dr. Mahlallegationsagainst Dr.
Underwood. Id. at T 208. Notwithstanding this letter, Roswell Park presehDr. Underwood
with three options: (1) undergo a further review of sdcommittes findings which could
lead totherevacation of his medical license; (2) accept a curtailment of surgical duties related to
renal medical issues; or (3) participate in an advanced training course anhitregslty of
Rochester.ld. at § 212. Dr. Underwood chose the third optitth.at  213. As part of the plan,
Roswell Park agreed that if Dr. Underwood completed the training with stoisfaeviews, he
would return to Roswell Park and be ableviark with the same independence he had before Dr.
Mohler initiated the peer reviewd.

Dr. Underwood observed and performed surgery at the University of Rochester fyom Jul
2014 through October 2014d. at § 25. During that time, he was not allowed to perform his
work at Roswell Park and his patients were reassigned to white physicians rolbgy
Department.ld. Shortly before he began his work at the University of Rochester, Roswell Park
sent a lettera the University of Rochester staff in which Roswell Park criticized Dr. Urmizatw
and maligned his clinical abilitiesld. at  214. However, aftesxompletingthe fourmonth
training period the University of Rochester gave Dr. Underwood’s performanpesiive
review and reported that they found no deficiencies or problems with his performance or
conduct. Id. at 1 216. The University of Rochester further expressed that it was pleased and
impressed with Dr. Underwood’s performance and that it woule him if a positionwere

available. 1d. Dr. Edward Messing, who had supervised Dr. Underwood at the University of
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VIII.

IX.

Rochester, indicated that he found no weaknesses in Dr. Underwood’s clinical perfornthnce a
that there was no reason not tacredentiaDr. Underwood.Id. at § 220.
EEOC Charge

In early October 2014, Dr. Underwood filed a charge of racial discrimination andyracial
hostile working environment against Roswell Parith the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (“EEOC”) and the New York State Digis of Human Rights.ld. at  217. The
charge was received by the EEOC on October 15, 20#4. According to Dr. Underwood, the
EEOC is required to send a copy of that charge or notice of the charge to the chargéad p
this case Roswell Park) wih ten days of receiving itid. at § 218.

On October 22, 2014, Dr. Mohler sent Dr. Underwood an email informinghabhe
would not be able to perform clinical activities at Roswell Park for the first wéekhas return
from the University of Roabster. Id. at § 219.

L eave of Absence from Hospital Work

On November 42014, one day after Dr. Underwood returned to Roswell Park, Dr.
Mohler asked Dr. Underwood to meet with him and Roswell Park’s Vice President of Human
Resources to discuss his scheduld. at § 222. Despite the positive evaluations from the
University of Rochester and the agragmbn plan to allow Dr. Underwood to perform his work
independenthafter completing the training, Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park refused to approve Dr.
Underwood’s privilegesld. RoswellPark’s Vice President ¢fuman Resources stated that Dr.
Underwood had three options: (fgke eight months off from working at the hospital and
perform only research work; (2) take a leave of absence for six month3) accoept staff

privileges on a teporary basis, but with close supervision by Dr. Mohlel. Feeling coerced,

6 Upon his request, the EEOC issued Dr. Undedva Notice of Right to Sue letter on April 30, 2018. at
1 226.
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Dr. Underwood accepted the first option and took an eighith leave of absentdrom
working at the hospitalld. at §223.

X.  Removal as Associate Director of Outreach

In late 2014, Dr. Mohler removed Dr. Underwood from his position as Associatéddirec

of Outreach.ld. at T 224. This position, which Dr. Underwood had held for approximately two
years, entailed brokering partnerships with other medical fasilito increase research
productivity at Roswell Parkld. Dr. Mohler was replaced by a white physician and was not
given any notice or explanation of this changge.

XI.

Denial of Accessto Data

In June 2015, D. Underwood attempted to begin work on an extension of the
Community Network Project, for which he had received funding from NIH in 204.Gat | 227.
Roswell Parlkwasaware of the project, had signed off on the project during its application, and
had acceptedunding to conduct the projectld. However, Roswell Park interfered with Dr.
Underwood’s ability to dohe research by denying him accessldtathat was readily available
and provided to his white colleaguekl. Dr. Underwood alleges that Roswell Park knew that
Dr. Underwood would not be able to complete the research without access to this data, and tha
Roswell Park interfered with the project because “the expected and anticipated aeslilt
conclusions of the research would expose a pattern and practice of racial disicnmioya
Defendants towards African Americans, even as patieids.”
XIl.  Supervised Privileges

OnJuly 6, 2015 Dr. Mohler wrote a letter to Roswell Park’s President of Medical Staff.
Id. at § 229. In the letter,Dr. Mohler recommendedhat Dr. Underwood only be given

“supervisedprivileges upon his returrto the hospital. Id. Supervised privileges would not

! This leave of absence started on December 10, 2014 and lasted until August 9¢28t1%223.
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allow Dr. Underwood to operate and carry out his professional duties with the same
independence as provided to the other memitietise Urology Department, who are whitkl.
at 1 230. The additional scrutiny placed on Dr. Underwood adversely affects his morale and
reputation among his peers and medical stalff.
LEGAL STANDARD

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a paytynmae to
dismiss a complaint fdifailure to state a clainmpon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(6). In reviewing a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(ba(6)urt “must accept as true
all of the factual allegations contained in the complai@gll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S.
544, 572 (2007), and “draw all reasonable inferences in Plaintiff's faveabier v. Metro. Life
Ins. Co, 648 F.3d 98, 104 (2d Cir. 2011). To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must
contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to “state a claifiefdhat is plausible on its
face.” Twombly,550 U.S. at 570. “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference thatahdaaht is liable
for the misconduct alleged Ashcroft v. Igba) 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). The application of this
standard is “a contexdpecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial
experience and common senséd’ at 679.

When decidinga motion under Rule 12){), a court ordinarily may not rely on matters
outside the pleadings unless the court treats the motion as one for summarynjudupee Rule
56 and gives the parties a reasonable opportunity to present relevant evidedc®. Eiv. P.
12(d). However, as the Second Circuit explaine€ambers v. Time Warner, In@82 F.3d
147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002):

For purposes of this rule, “the complaint is deemed to include any written

instrument attached to it as an exhibit or any statements or documents

incorporated in iby reference.Int’l Audiotext Network, Inc. v. Am. Tel. & Tel.
Co, 62 F.3d 69, 72 (2d Cin995) (per curiam) (quotin@ortec Indus., Inc. v.
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Sum Holding L.R.949 F.2d 42, 47 (2d Cil991));seeFed.R. Civ. P. 10(c) (“A

copy of any written instrumenthich is an exhibit to a pleading is a part thereof

for all purposes.”).Even where a document is not incorporated by reference, the

court may nevertheless consider it where the complaint “relies heavily wgon it

terms and effect,” which renders the do@nt “integral” to the complaintnt’l

Audiotext 62 F.3d at 72.

Id. at 15253 (2d Cir. 2002). With respect to documents that are deemed “integral” to the
complaint, “it must be clear on the record that no dispute exists regarding thetiaityher
accuracy of the document” and that “there exist no material disputed issues @ffacting the
relevance of the documentFaulkner v. Beer463 F.3d 130, 134 (2d Cir. 2006). Furthermore,
“where plaintiff has actual notice oflahe information in thanovants papers and has relied
upon these documents in framing the complaint the necessity of translating 4 2Ruiis)
motion into one under Rule 56 is largely dissipatedChambers 282 F.3d at 153 (quoting
Corteg 949 F.2d at 48) (internal quotatiomsitted).

Here,Roswell Parkattached the following documents to its motion to dismiss: a copy of
the Charge of Discrimination against Roswell Pildd by Dr. Underwood and received by the
EEOC on October 15, 2014 (ECF No.-36at 57); a copy of theNotice of Charge of
Discrimination sent by the EEOC on December 18, 2014 and received by Roswell Park on
December 22, 2014 (ECF No.-56 at 24); and a copy of the EEOC Notice of Right to Sue
letter sent to Dr. Underwood on April 30, 2015 (ECF No6).6-

The EEOC Charge of Discrimination and Notice of Right to Sue letter argoreted
by reference into Dr. Underwood’s Amended Complaimd will therefore be considered in the
context of the instant motions to dismisSeeECF No. 10 at ®17-19, 226. The Notice of
Charge of Discrimination, however, will not be considered. Dr. Underwood does not reference

this document in hisAmended Complaint and its accuracys not undisputed; lthough it

suggests that Roswell Park received notice of Dr. Underwood’'s EB&Qecon December 22,

17



2014, Dr. Underwood allegabat the EEOC notified Roswell Park much eariewrithin ten
days of receiving the charga October 15, 2014ld. at T 218.
DISCUSSION

Dr. Underwood asserts the followitgpesof claims against Roswelark, Dr. Mohler,
and Does 50: discrete discriminatignretaliation, hostile work environment, whistleblower
retaliation, and breach of contract. ECF No. 189their motions to dismis$Roswell Park and
Dr. Mohlerraise several arguments challengthg viability ofthese claims. ECF Nos. 15, 16.
In addition, both Roswell Park and Dr. Mohler argue that the HCQIA does not provide a private
right of action and that all claims against DoeS0lshould be dismissedd. Lastly, Roswell
Park argues thatt is immune from punitive damages in this case. ECF No. 16.

Discrete Discrimination

Dr. Underwood seeks relief under Title VII, the NYSHRL, section 1983, antbsect
1981 for numerousllegeddiscreteacts ofdiscrimination The Court will addresBefendants
argumentsegarding each statute in turn.

A. TitleVII

Title VII makes it an “unlawful employment practice for an employer . . . to discaiin
against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, orgesvidd
employnent, because of such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42
U.S.C. § 2000e2. As a preliminary matter, Dr. Underwood’s Title VII claim is dismissed as to
Dr. Mohler because “individuals are notbgect to liability under Title VI’ Sassaman v.
Gamache 566 F.3d 307, 3126 (2d Cir. 2009) (goting Patterson v. County of Oneid&75
F.3d 206, 221 (2d Ci2004). Roswell Park argues that many of the allegations set forth in Dr.
Underwood’'s Amended€omplaint are either timbarred or were not presented to the EEOC.

ECF No. 16-1, at 9-13.
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I.  Statuteof Limitations

As relevant here, a plaintiff alleging discrimination in violation of Title VII muist &
charge with the EEOC *“within three hundred dafter the alleged unlawful employment
practice occurred.” 42 U.S.@.2000e5(e)(1). This statute of limitationgfecludes recovery
for discrete acts of discrimination or retaliation that occur outside the syatute period.
Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgd86 U.S. 101, 105 (2002).

Because Dr. Underwood filed his EEQshargeon October 15, 2014, he manly
maintain an action with respect thscrete ad of discrimination that happened on or after
Decemberl9, 2013. For example, Dr. Underwoalleges that Roswell Park forced him to
undergo a training course at the University of Rochester from July 2014 through xaBer
failed to renew his privileges aftéee completedhe course and forced him to take an eigh
month leave of absence from working at the hospital (December 10, 2014 through August 9,
2015); and removed him from his position as Associate Director of Outreach &0latelt is
also important to note that although Dr. Underwood alleges that $ipawd less than his white
colleagues beginning in 2008, he is not precluded from alleging discrete acterimhidetory
pay after December 19, 2018ee42 U.S.C. § 20008{e)(3)(A).

With respect to alleged discrete acts of discrimination that octbefere December 19,
2013, Dr. Underwoodrgues thathe “continuing violation” doctrine applies. ECF Nt2, at 4
7; ECF No. 23, at493. Under that doctrine, if a plaintiff has been subjected to an ongoing
policy of discrimination and at least one incident of discrimination occurred withistatutory
period, “all claims of acts of discrimination under that policy will be timely everey thould
be untimely standing alone Chin v. Port Auth. of N.Y. & New Jers&g5 F.3d 135, 1556 (2d
Cir. 2012). However, the Supreme Courthorgan held that “discrete discriminatory acts are

not actionable if time barred, even when they are related to acts allege@linftied charges.
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Each discrete discriminatory act starts a new clock for filing @saafleging that act."Morgan,

536 U.S. at 113.Thus to the extent the continuing violation doctriigeviable at all after
Morgan it cannot apply to disete acts bdiscrimination. Chin, 685 F.3d at 157 (holding that
underMorgan, discrete acts oute of the statutory period “cannot be brought within it, even
when undertaken pursuant to a general policy that results in other discretecaatsi@avithin

the limitations period”).

The Court inMorgan explained that “[d]iscrete acts such as teation, failure to
promote, denial of transfer, or refusal to hire are easy to identify. Each inadent
discrimination and each retaliatory adverse employment decision constitutepanate
actionable ‘unlawful employment practice.Td. at 114. A claim based solely on the delay of
Dr. Underwood’s promotion to Associate Professor from October 2010 until April 2011, for
example, would be timbarred. With respect to other actions that an employer may take,
however, determining whether the action isiscitte “unlawful employment practice” under
Morgan may depend on the specific nature of that action and other surrounding circumstances.
Thereforethe Court need noidentify, at this early stage of the litigatiothe specificallegations
beforeDecenber 19, 2013hat arebarred by the statute of limitatiofis.

ii.  Exhaustion

Dr. Underwoods EEOC barge alleges that he was subjecteddatinuing disparate
treatment because of his race and a racially hostile work environr€z#. No. 165, at 57.
Although Dr. Underwood does make some allegations in his Amended Complaint that were not

included in his EEOC charge, unexhausted Title VII claims may still be subthitieey are

8 The Court is also mindful of the fact that even if some of the actiessrided m Dr. Underwood’s

Amended Complaint are tintarred, the statute of limitations does not bar him from using those"agts
background evidence in support of a timely clainMorgan, 536 U.S. at 113. Thus, early resolution of all the
statute of limitatios issues in this case would not have a significant effect on the scogemfetiy.
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“reasonably related” to the exhausted claidlliams v. N.Y. City Hous. Auti58 F.3d 67, 70
(2d Cir. 2006). The court iwilliamsexplained:
[A] claim is considered reasonably related if the conduct complained of would fall
within the scope of the EEOC investigation which can reasonably be expected to
grow out of the charge thavas made. . The central question is whether the
complaint filed with the EEOC gave that agency adequate notice to investigate
discrimination on both bases. The “reasonably related” exception to the
exhaustion requirement is essentially an allowandease pleading and is based

on the recognition that EEOC charges frequently are filled out by employees

without the benefit of counsel and that their primary purpose is to alert the EEOC

to the discrimination that a plaintiff claims he [or she] is suifgri
Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted)An unexhausted claim is also “reasonably
related” if it allegesretaliation for filing the EEOC charge @llegesfurther incidents of
discrimination carried out in the same manner alleged in the Efb@ge. WilsonRichardson
v. Regl Transit Serv., Ing.948 F. Supp. 2d 300, 305 (W.D.N.Y. 2013).

Here,the allegations in Dr. Underwood’'s Amended Complaint that were not included in
his EEOC chargare reasonably related and will not be dismissed on exhaustion graDnds.
Underwood’'s EEOC charge includeis mostsignificantallegationsof racial discrimination and
racially hostile work environmenseeECF No. 16-5, at 5-7, and Roswell Park has not pointed to
any allegations in the Amended Complaihatt would not be expected to grow out of that
charge. ECF No. 16, at 913. The Amended Complaint also includes allegations of retaliation
for filing the EEOC charge and allegations of further incidents of discrtmmaarried out in
the same manneilleged in the EEOC chargeSeeECF No. 10. Therefore Roswell Park’s
motion to dismiss Dr. Underwood’s unexhausted claims is denied.

B. NYSHRL

The NYSHRLmakes it “an unlawful discriminatory practice” for an employer to refuse

to hire, discharge, or otheise discriminate against an individual with respect to the terms or

conditions of employmeriecause ofthat individual's race. N.Y. Exec. Law § 296lew York
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courts examine claims under the NYSHRL “with the same analytical lens as codiegp®itle
VIl-based claims.”Patane v. Clark508 F.3d 106, 113 (2d Cir. 2008ge alsd~anelli v. N.Y,.

51 F. Supp. 3d 219, 230 (E.D.N.Y. 2014)x]he same standard is used when analyzing Title VII
and NYSHRL claims). However, unlike Title VII claims, individddiability is potentially
available under the NYSHRLMandell v. Qy. of Suffolk 316 F.3d 368, 377 (2d Cir. 2003)
Claims under the NYSHRL are subject to a thyear statute of limitationsLightfoot v. Union
Carbide Corp, 110 F.3d 898, 907 (2d Cir. 1997).

Both Roswell Park and Dr. Mohlargue that becauggr. Underwood filed his Amended
Compaint on November 18, 2015, he is barred fromaintaining a claim under the NYSHRL
based on actions that occurred before November 18, 2012. ECF Na&s.183. Dr.
Underwood, on the other hand, maintains that July 28, 2015, the date of his orgmahidt,
should be used to calculate the statute of limitatpergod. ECF Nos. 22, 23.

Rule 15(c)(1)(B) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedstedes thatrmamended pleading
relates back to the date of the original pleading when “the amendment assairts @r clefense
that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence seboattempted to be set eutn
the original pleading.” Fed. R. Civ. P. t}{@)(B). For a newlyadded claim to relate back
under this rule, “the basic claim must have arisen out of the conduct set forth in thal orig
pleading.” ASARCO LLC v. Goodwi756 F.3d 191, 202 (2d C2014) (quotindSlayton v. Am.
Exp. Co, 460 F.3d215, 228 (2d Cir. 2006)rert. denied 135 S. Ct. 71%2014) “The central
inquiry is whether adequate notice of the matters raised in the amended plesilveen given
to the opposing party within the statute of limitations by the general fact@usleged in the
original pleading.”1d.

Dr. Underwood’s original @mplaint, like the Amended Complaint, alleged racial

discrimination by Roswell Park and Dr. Mohler in violation of the NYSHRL. ECF Ndl'le
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original Complaint also included subsi#ally the same allegations of adverse actions taken
against Dr. Underwoodld. NeitherDr. Mohler nor Roswell Park point to any allegation in the
Amended Complainthat is missing fronthe original Complaint.SeeECF Nos. 15, 16, 2452
Therefore,because DrUnderwood filed his original Complaint on July 28, 20ttt relevant
cut-off date for the purpose of applying the statute of limitations to Dr. Underwood3HRY
claims is July 28, 2012. Dr. Underwood may maintmmaction wih respect to discrete acts of
discrimination that occurred on or after July 28, 2812.

C. Section 1983

Section 198%rovides a cause of action agait{ef very person who, under color of any
statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any Statesubjects, or causes to be
subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdi@i@oft to the
deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Cormtitatid laws of the
United States42 U.S.C. § 193. To state a claim for employment discrimination under section
1983, “a plaintiff must allege two elements: (1) the violation of a right sechyedhe
Constitution and laws of the United States, and (2) the alleged deprivation wastteahioypia
personacting under color of state law¥Vega v. Hempstead Union Free Sch. D01 F.3d 72,
87 (2d Cir. 2015)(quoting Feingold v. N.Y,.366 F.3d 138, 159 (2d Cir. 2004{internal
guotations omitted).

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendrpeshibits states from
discriminating against employees on the basis of rdde.at 87#88. Once the color of law
requirement is mefan equal protectioremployment discriminationlaim under section 1983

governed by the same standardsaakitle VII claim, except that a section 1983 claim can be

° Again, the Court declines to identify each allegation in the Amended Comnptainto July 28, 2012 that

amounts to a “discrete act” and is therefore taered. Tle Court does note, however, tihabrgan also governs
the standard for applying the continuing violation doctrine to NYSHRIms. Bermudez v. City of N.Y783 F.
Supp. 2d 560, 574 (S.D.N.Y. 20185otomayor v. City of N.Y862 F. Supp. 2d 22650 (E.D.N.Y. 2012), aff],

713 F.3d 163 (2d Cir. 2013)
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brought against an individualld. at 88. Public benefit corporations such as Roswell Park are
treated as municipal entities for the purpose of liability under section 1988ntyre v.
NuHealth-Nassau Uni. Mal. Ctr, No. 12CV -3934 2011 WL 4434227, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Sept.
19, 2011) McGrath v. Nassau Health Care Cor@17 F. Supp. 2d 319, 330 (E.D.N.Y. 2002).
I.  Statuteof Limitations

Claims brought under section 1983 in New York are subject to a-yheeestatute of
limitations. Vega 801 F.3d at 79. The considerations set fortiMiorgan also apply to
employment claims under section 198Rl. Roswell Park and Dr. Mohler arguas they did
regarding the Title VIl and NYSHRL claims, that Dr. Underwasdbarred from maintaining a
claim under section 1983ased on actions that occurred before November 18, 2012. ECF Nos.
15-1, 161. However, for the same reasons discussed above in the context of the NYSHRL, the
Court finds that (1)he relevant cubff date for the purpose of applying the statute of limitations
to Dr. Underwood’s section 1983 claims is July 28, 2012; and (2) it woutddoeaturdor the
Court toidentify eachallegationprior to July 28, 2012 that amounts tstandalone “discrete
act” andwould therefore betime-barred

ii.  Dr.Mohler

Dr. Mohleradvances two arguments regarding the disdist@imination claims against
him under section 1983First, Dr. Mohler points out that because Dr. Underwood is asserting a
section 1983 claim against Roswell Pahe tlaim against Dr. Mohler in his official capacity is
redundant. ECF No. 15, at 1214, seeFalkowski v. N. Fork Hous. All., IndNo. 08CV-255Q
2009 WL 3174029, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 20q9Q]fficial -capacity suitsgenerally
represent only asther way of pleading an action against an entityvbich an officer is an
agent.”)(quotingKentucky v. Grahamd73 U.S. 159, 1661985) (internal quotations omitted).

Dr. Underwood agrees that “the official capacity claims against DefendanteMainé
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unnecessary.” ECF No. 22, at 18herefore,Dr. Mohler’s motion to dismiss is granted with
respect to thelaims against him in his official capacity under section 1983.

Second, wth respect to the discrete discrimination claiagainst himin his indvidual
capacity, Dr. Mohleargues that he is entitled to qualified immunigCF No. 151, at 1415.

The doctrine of qualified immunity shields government employees from suitsrfagds under
section 1983 unless (1) the coudt at issue violatedhe plairiff s clearly established
constitutional rights and (2) a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have known
that he or she was violating those righ&ee, e.g., Lowth v. Town of Cheektowd&faF.3d 563,

569 (2d Cir. 1996).

Qualified immunity is an affirmative defense and may be raised in the context of a
motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6YicKenna v. Wright386 F.3d 432, 435 (2d Cir. 2004)
That being saida defendant asserting the defense at this $tages a fomidable hurdle . . . and
is usually not successful.Bryant v. Steele25 F. Supp. 3d 233, 246 (E.D.N.Y. 201dyoting
Field Day, LLC v. County of Suffold63 F.3d 167, 1992 (2d Cir.2006)) (internal quotations
omitted) On a motion to dismiss, “ftp defense will succeed only where entitlement to
qgualified immunity can be established based sotelyfacts appearing on the face of the
complaint.” Bryant 25 F. Supp. 3d at 246 (quotifdcKenna 386 F.3d at 436) (internal
guotations and alterations omittedkiven that standaré motion to dismiss “is a mismatch for
immunity and almost always a bad ground of dismissBatnett v. Mount Vernon Police Dep’t
523 F. App’x 811, 813 (2d Cir. 2018yuotingMcKenna 386 F.3d at 436(internal quotations
omitted)

Dr. Mohler fails to show “on the face of the complaint” tihat is entitled to qualified
immunity. SeeMcKenna 386 F.3d at 436. Rather, his argument consists of a single statement

that “it was reasonable under any standard for Dr. Mohler to investigdtach upon concerns
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that [Dr. Underwood] was clinically deficient.” ECF No.-15at 14. Therefore, Dr. Mohler’s
motion to dismiss on the basis of qualified immunity is denied.
iii.  Roswell Park

Roswell Park argues that Dr. Underwood fails to state a clailnsigbaunder section
1983 because his allegations “relate only to conduct by Dr. Mohler and not any municipal
policymaker.” ECF No. 16-1, at 17-20.

Although nunicipalitiesand other local governmental bodies subject to liabilityunder
section 1983, they ay only be held liable “for theiownillegal acts.” Pembaur v. Cincinnati
475 U.S. 469479 (1986)(citing Monell v. New York City Dépof Soc Servs, 436 U.S. 658,
665683 (1978) (emphasis in original) The Supreme Court has “consistently refusedhold
municipalities liable under a theory ofspondeat supericr Bd. Of Comm’rs of Bryan .,
Okla. v. Brown 520 U.S. 397, 403 (1997)nstead, a plaintiff seeking to impose liability on a
municipality under section 1983 must “demonstrate that, througteltberate conduct, the
municipality was the ‘moving force’ behind the injury alleged. That iglamtiff must show
that the municipal action was taken with the requisite degree of culpability andi@nusnstrate
a direct causal link betwedghe municipal action and the deprivation of federal rightsl” at
404 (emphasis in original).

In this context, it is important to distinguish cases that present difficult questidengltof
and causation from those that do not. Where an action takéinected by the municipality or
its authorized decisionmakéself violates federal law, it is easy to conclude that municipal
liability attaches. Id. at 404405 Further, “[i]f the authorized policymakers approve a
subordinate’s decision and the basis for it, their ratification would be chargeahlee t
municipality because their decision is finalCity of St. Louis v. Praprotnjkd85 U.S. 112, 127

(1988) plurality opinion). On the other hand, where the plaintiff alleges that the municipality
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has not directly inflicted an injury buhonetheless caused @&mployee to do so, “rigorous
standards of culpability and causation must be applied to ensure that the nitynisipat held
liable solely for the actions of its employedBtown 520 U.Sat405.

Here, Dr. Underwood alleges that numeraats of racial discrimination have been taken
against him during hismploymentat Roswell Park With respect to the actioradlegedly taken
directly by Roswell Park, such as forcing Dr. Underwood toetgml an eightnonth training
program at the University of Rochesgard refusing to approve his privileges once he completed
that programmunicipal liability attaches and Roswell Park’s motion to dismiss is detdeet
403-408;Pembaur 475 U.S. at 479-485.

Most of the actions described in Dr. Underwood’'s Amended Complaint, however, were
allegedly taken by Dr. Mohler. Dr. Underwood does not allege that Dr. Mohler wésadhe
decisionmaker, but rather that Doe$d “had the final decisionmaking authority regarding the
complainedof acts against Dr. Underwoodld. at 1 17. In his Amended Complaint, Dr.
Underwood repeatedly states that Dr. Mohler acted “with the authorization andicatran of”
Roswell Park and Does 1-5&ee, e.g.ECF No. 10 at § 195.

Alone, heseconclusory statemente not entitled to the assumption of truth and would
be insufficient to support municipal liabilitygbal, 556 U.S. at 678 However, Dr. Underwood
does providdactual allegations to support the assertion that Roswell &dHhorized or ratified
the employment actions that were taken against Har. example, Dr. Underwood allegist
Dr. Mohler reported to the CEO and President of Roswell Park at all relewvesst tiECF No.

10, at  17.Dr. Underwood also alleges that he complained to the Roswell Park administration
on many occasions regarding the ways in which Dr. Mohler was disruptingdusce. See,
e.g, id. at 11116, 17072, 176, 178180, 189, 198, 204, 20On at least one of thesecasions,

during a meeting with Roswell Park CEO Dr. Trump, Dr. Underwood specificatllyplained

27



that Dr. Mohlerhad been treating him differently on the basis of his radeat § 207. Despite
these complaints, Dr. Underwood alleges that Roswell &drkothing to rectify the situation
and thereby affirmed the actions taken by Dr. Mahldecausethe Court finds that Dr.
Underwood has alleged sufficient facts to “nudgel]” his claims against RdReudd|“across the
line from conceivable to plausiBleTwombly 550 U.S. at 570, Roswell Park’s motion to dismiss
is denied.

D. Section 1981

Dr. Underwood’'s Amended Complaint includes a cldon relief under section 1981,
which provides that “[a]ll persons within the jurisdiction of the United States lsdnadl the same
right . . . to make and enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, andutioathe f
equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the security of persons and prEgpestenjoyed
by white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981(apeferdants RoswelPark and Dr. Mohler argue that
Dr. Underwood’s claim for relief under section 1981 should be dismipsesbant to the
Supreme Court’s ruling idett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dis#t91 U.S. 701, 736L989) In Jett the
Supreme Court held thaection 1983 “provides the exclusive federal damages remedy for the
violation of rights guaranteed by § 1981 when the claim is pressed against atstatec '

Dr. Underwood responds this argument by stating that he “will address this issuesin hi
proposed Second Amended Complaint bypleading the Section 1981 claims against Defendant
Mohler,*! consistent with the holding idett through Section 1983.” ECF No. 22, at 20.

Because Dr. Underwood has not filed a Second Amended Complaint, their@ewotets this

10 Section 1981 was amended as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 to inclhdecsion (c), which provides
that “[t]he rights protected by this section are protected againstriigati by nongovemental discrimination and
impairment under color of State law.” 42 U.S.C. § 1981(c). The Secondt@iasnot decidel whether subsection

(c) statutorily overruleslett and creates a private right of action against state actors under sectin 388
Anderson v. Conbeyl56 F.3d 167, 169 n.19 (2d Cir. 1998pward v. City of N.Y.602 F. App’x 545, 546 n.1 (2d
Cir. 2015).

1 In response t&Roswell Parks motion to dismissDr. Underwood states that he “adopts [the] arguments and
authorites made in Plaintiff[']s Response in Opposition to Defendant Mohléotson to Dismiss.” ECF No. 23, at
14.
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statement to mean that Dr. Underwood no longer wishes to pursue an independent claim for
relief under section 1981, and instead w#kk relief under section 1983 for the alleged violation
of his rights under section 198 herefore, thenotions to dismis®r. Underwood’s claim for
relief under section 1981 are granted.
Retaliation

In addition to hisdiscrete discriminatioklaims, Dr. Underwood seeks relghderTitle
VII and the NYSHRLfor alleged retaliatiohe sufferedvhile working at Roswell Park.ECF
No. 10, at9598. Dr. Mohler argues th&r. Underwood fails to state a claim for retaliation
under the NYSHRL*? The Court disagrees.

The NYSHRL makes it an unlawful discriminatory practice for an empltyéretaliate
or discriminate against any gen because he or she has opposed any practices forbidden under
this article or because he or she has filed a complaint, testified or assistey pmoceeding
under this articlé N.Y. Exec. Law 8 29@). For a retaliation claim under the NYSHRL to
suvive a motion to dismissthe plaintiff “must plausibly allege that: (1) defendants
discriminated—or took an adverse employmenttian—against him, (2) ‘becausdie has
opposed any unlawful employment practic¥’&ga 801 F.3d at 96°

Here, Dr. Underwod alleges that after he filed a charge of racial discrimination with the
EEOC on October 15, 2014, he was retaliated against in several different ways: (1) ob&love
4, 2014, after Dr. Underwood had returned from his training program at the Univeskity
Rochester with positive performance reviev®, Mohler and Roswell Parlkorced Dr.
Underwood to take an eightonth leave of absence from working at the hospital; (2) in late

2014, Dr. Mohler removed Dr. Underwood from his position as Associate Dic@utreach

12 Other relevant argumentsy Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park are discussed above in the previous section of

this decision

13 Although the court in/egaprovided the pleading standards for retaliation claims under Title \élIsdme
standards are used for claimsder the NYSHRL.Cooper v. N.Y. State Dep't of Lab@&19 F.3d 678, 681 n.3 (2d
Cir. 2016)(quotingBrennan v. Metro. Opera Ass'n, Ind92 F.3d 310, 316 n. 2 (2d Cir.19R9)
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and replaced him with a white physician without any notice or explanation for genreahind
this changge(3) in June 2015, Roswell Park interfered with Dr. Underwood’s ability to work on
his Community Network Project, a project that couldvdn exposed a pattern of racial
discrimination at Roswell Park towards African American patients, by deryimgaccess to
data that was readily available to his white colleagues; and (4) or6J@§15, Dr. Mohler
recommended that Dr. Underwood only beeg “supervised privileges” after his leave of
absence.

Dr. Mohler characterizes the refusal to ren@v. Underwood’s privileges after he
completed his training program at the University of Rochester as meretpniiauation of a
decision that was takein November 2013, well befoi@r. Underwood filed his EEOC charge.
ECF No. 151, at 12. But Dr. Underwood specifically alleges that when Roswell Park first
refused to renew his privileges, he was told that he would be able to return to thal ha8pit
independence once he completed his training with satisfactory reviews. &C®MNat T 213.

At this stage of the litigatioh where the Court must draw all reasonable inferences in Dr.
Underwood’s favor, the decision force Dr. Underwoodnto anothe leave of absence after he
filed his EEOC charge must be viewed as a separate adverse employment action.

Because Dr. Underwood’s allegations are sufficient to state a claim for retaliader
the NYSHRL,Dr. Mohler’s motion to dismiss denied

Hostile Work Environment

14 Dr. Mohler cites two case§entile v. Potter509 F. Supp. 2d 221, 240 (E.D.N.Y. 2007) &idttery v.
Swiss Reinsurance Am. Cqar@48 F.3d 87, 95 (2d Cir. 2001), in support of his argument that Dr. Underwood has
failed to state a claim for retaliation under the NYSHRL. However, bbthose cases involve the application of
the McDonnell Douglasstandard of proof in the context of a motion for summary judgment. Hetes pteadings
stage of the litigation, Dr. Underwood “was not required to pleggrima facie case of discrimination as
contemplated by th®lcDonnell Douglagramework.” Vega 801 F.3d at 84.
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Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park argue that Dr. Underwood fails to stel@ra for hostile
work environment® ECF Nos. 15-1, at 9-11; 16-1, at 15-16. The Court disagrees.

Hostile work environment claims derive from the recognition that a prohibition on
workplace discrimination includes not only “economic” or “tangible” disgration, but also
includes ftequiring people to work in a discriminatorily hostile or abusive environmertis
v. Forklift Sys., InG.510 U.S. 17, 211993) As the Supreme Court explained Morgan,
“[h]ostile environment claims are different in kind from discrete agiseir very nature involves
repeated conduct.Morgan, 536 U.S. at 115While a discrete discrimination claiarises out of
a spedic employmentdecisbn that isactionable onts own, hostile work environment claims
“are based on the cumulative effect of individual actd.®

To state a claim for eacially hostile work environmeng plaintiff must plead facts that
would tend toshow (1) that the complaineaf conduct is objectively severe or pervasive, such
that it creates an environment that a reasonable person would find hostile or aBushad;the
plaintiff subjectively perceived the environment to bestile or abusiveand (3) thatthe
complainedof conduct created such an environment because of the plaindiées Goins v.
Bridgeport Hosp.555 F. App’x 70,/1-72 (2d Cir. 2014jciting Patane 508 F.3d at 113 With
respect to the first prong, the Supreme CouHanris provided the following elucidation:

[W]hether an environment is “hostiledr “abusive” can be determined only by

looking at all the circumstances. These may include the frequency of the

discriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it is physicalyeatening or
humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it unrealgongerferes

with an employees work performance. The effect on the employee

psychological wetbeing is, of course, relevant to determining whether the
plaintiff actudly found the environment abusive. But while psychological harm,

15 Claims of hostile work environment under Title VII, the NYSHRLdaection 1983 are governed by

essentially the same standard, and will therefore be discussedetog8te, e.g.Patane 508 F.3dat 113-15;
Sotomayar862 F. Supp. 2d at 26i1.

16 For that reason, hostile work environment claims are treated diffefeam discrete discriminatioolaims
for the purpose of calculating the statute of limitatiofgs. at 117 (“Provided that an act contributing to theim
occurs within the filing period, the entire time period of the hostiléarenment may be considered by a court for
the purposes of determining liability.”).
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like any other relevant factor, may be taken into account, no single factor is
required.

Harris, 510 U.S. at 23.

Here, Dr. Underwood has plausibly alleged that he was subjected to ayduiaslile
work environment at Roswell Park. In particular, Dr. Underwood makes the following
allegations: (1) on several occasions, both in public and private settings and both ingheepres
of Dr. Underwood and in the presence of others, Dr. Mohler referred to Dr. Underwood as “an
affirmative action program achievement” and a “token Black”2)Underwood was not given
incomecredit for acquiring $8nillion in NIH grants on behalf of Roswell Park, even though he
was entitled to such credit under timeome Plan; (3)n November 2009, Dr. Mohler reduced
Dr. Underwood’s access to operative time, patient referrals and outpatiert loffics; (4)
beginning in November 2009, Dr. Underwood received a lower salary than a white surgeon with
less experience, less paewviewed funding, and fewer publications; (&) Mohler delayed Dr.
Underwood’s promotion to Associate Professor from October 2010 until April 2011; (6) in 2011,
when NIH scheduled a site visit to review the progress or&million grants, Dr. Mohler
refused to allow Dr. Underwood to be present or participate; (7) sometimeran Ma April
2011, Dr. Mohler instituted a “policy” in which physicians in the Urology Departmene
required to make up time spent on vacation or engaging in academic pursuits, but ontly applie
this policy to Dr. Underwood and ntit any of his white colleagues; (8) September 201 Dr.
Mohler removed Dr. Underwood as Principal Investigator of the Kidney D&t aivaks replaced
him with awhite surgeon(9) Roswell Parkfalselyaccused Dr. Underwood of verbal abuse after
he questioned the basis for his removal from the Kidney Datafd@yein December 201Dr.
Mohler further reduced Dr. Underwood’s outpatient office hours and transferredan drhis
case load to avhite surgeon who was new to the Urology Department; (11) also in December

2012, Dr. Mohler moved Dr. Underwood’s office out of the Urology Department to a building
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located approximately half a mile away, without giving any reasons for thie,nand assiged

Dr. Underwood'’s previous office to a white surgeon new to the Urology Departm2hDr(1
Mohler initiated a “peer review” of Dr. Underwood’'s performanaed accused him of
malpractice even though several white members of the Urology had worseatimirbidities

than him; (13peginning in November 2013, Dr. Mohler refused to renew Dr. Underwood’s staff
privileges, which severely harméis professional reputation and hindered his ability to make
career advancements; (14) Roswell Pancdd Dr. Underwood to participate in an advanced
training course at the University of Rochester from July 2014 through October 2014;t¢15) af
he completed the training course with satisfactory reviews, RoswelkRlarefused to approve

Dr. Underwood’s privileges and forced him to take another emgirith leave of absence from
hospital duties; (16) in late 2014, Dr. Mohler removed Dr. Underwood from his position as
Associate Director of Outreach and replaced him with a white physician withpubéic of or
explanation for this change; (17) in June 2015, Roswell Park interfered with Dr. dodesw
ability to perform research by denying him access to data that was readily aveilaid white
colleagues; and (18&)n July 6, 2015, Dr. Mohlerecommeded that Dr. Underwood only be
given “supervised privileges” upon his return to the hospital.

Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park argue that in the context of a hostile work environment
claim, the Court should disregard all allegations that could be classifiets@ste acts of
discrimination andshould instead focus solely on allegation$ insults, slurs, and offensive
comments.ECF No. 151, at 911; ECF No. 1€l, at 1516. But while the Court recognizes that
hostile work environment claims “tend to involypersonal attacks and harassing comments
directed at the plaintiff,Parekh v. Swissport Cargo Servs.,.Jndo. C\V-08-1994 2009 WL
290465, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 5, 2009), the scope of hostile work environment claims need not be

limited to only those typesf allegations Rather, the focus should be on atlegationsthat
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could plausibly contribute to the wrong that hostile work environment claims arenelédig
remedy; namely, “requiring people to work in a discriminatorily hostile oriad@nvironmen”
Harris, 510 U.S. at 21. To disregard suallegationssolely because theglso could be
actionable on their own as discrete acts of discrimination would run afoul of the @riticapl
“whether an environment is ‘hostile’ or ‘abusive’ can be determined only by lookadg tae
circumstancésand “no single factor is required.ld. at 23 (emphasis added)Drawing all
reasonablanferences in Dr. Underwood’s favor, as the Court must do at this stage of the
litigation, Dr. Underwood has sufficientlglleged that he was subjected t@eaially hostile work
environmentat Roswell Park Therefore, the motions to dismibg Dr. Mohler and Roswell
Parkare denied.

V. Whistleblower Retaliation

Dr. Underwood alleges whistleblower retaliation in violationN&w York Labor Law
sections740 and 741. ECF No. 1Gpecifically, Dr. Underwood alleges that he was subjected
to retaliation after he complained to his superiors at Roswell Park about thatyntdg
information in the Prostate Database, the disruptiomis practice caused by Dr. Mohler’s
interference with his schedule, and a pattern within the Urology Departmentirgg tailreport
complications and patient deaths for peer revig.

In their motions to dismiss, Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park ardis tmany of Dr.
Underwood’s allegations fall outside of the statute of limitations and that héofaiiate a claim
under eithesection ECF Nb. 15-1, at 16-22; ECF No. 16-1, at 20-23.

A. Section 740

Section 740, as relevant here, prohibits any emplisger taking a retaliatory personnel
action against an employee because the employee “discloses, or threatesdose db a

supervisor or to a public body an activity, policy or practice of the eraplbwat is in violation
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of law . . . which violation i@ates and presents a substantial and specific demgjee public
health or safety N.Y. Lab. Law § 740(2)(a). Claimgnder section 740 must be commenced
“within one year after the alleged retaliatory personnel action was.takery. Lab. Law §
740@)(a) Because Dr. Underwood filed his original Complaint on July 28, 2015, the relevant
cutoff date for the purpose of his section 740 claim is July 28, 2014.

With respect to his complaints regarding the integrity of the Prostath& and the
disruptions in his clinical practice, Dr. Underwood fails to state a claim for whistlel
retaliation under section 740. In his Amended Complaiit, Underwood does not plausibly
allege that the management of the Prostate Database or the disruptionghedhigescreated “a
substantial and specific danger to the public health or safétyy” Lab. Law 8§ 740(2)(a).The
repeated assertidhat mismanagement of thierostate Database “could” result in a substantial
and specific danger to public healthsarfety see, e.g.ECF No. 10 at Y 123, 129, 130, 2K0
speculative, conclusory, and not entitled to the assumption of truth in the condemtadion to
dismiss Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Similarly, Dr. Underwood alleges that disruptions in his
practce were inconvenient for himself and his patients but does not plausibly allege the
existence of a danger to public health or safety that was “substantial anfitc SpeSee, e.g.
ECF No. 10, at 11 168-172.

However, Dr. Underwood does state a claim under secti@nhwith respect to his
complaintthat physicians in theJrology Departmentvere failingto report complications and
patient deaths.Presumably, the reason for requiring peer review after surgical congiadi
the fact that such a review pents similar errors and deaths from happening in the future.

Indeed, Dr. Underwood describes in his Amended Complaint an incident in whiclerat pleed

1 Dr. Underwood’s original Complaint, like his Amended Complaint,galte whistleblower retaliation in

violation of sections 740 and 741. NeithDr. Mohler nor Roswell Pangoint to any allegatiorin the Amended
Complaintthat is missing fronthe original Complaint.SeeECF Nas. 15, 16, 24, 25. Accordinglyhe Court finds
that the whstleblower retaliation claims in Dr. Underwood’s Amended Complatate back to the time of his
original Complaint. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B).
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after a surgery that, “by all medical standards,” should not have been perfoluned.| 164.
Drawing all reasonable inferences r. Underwood’s favgrthe alleged pattern within the
Urology Department of failing to report complications and patient deatated a substantial
and specific danger to public hdaltSeeWebbWeber v. Cmty. Action for Human Servs., ,Inc.
23 N.Y.3d 448453 (2014)Rodgers v. Lenox Hill Hosp211 A.D.2d 248, 258Lst Dep’t1995)
Finkelstein v. Cornell Univ. Med. CqlR69 A.D.2d 114, 116 (1st Dep’t 2000).

Dr. Underwood has also plausibly allege@daasalconnectionbetween his complaints
aboutthefailure to reportsurgical complications and the adverse employment actions that were
taken against him after July 28, 2014. In 2012, when Dr. Underwood told Roswell Park’s Vice
President of Ethics that he planned to makermal complaint about how a specific surgery was
handledthe Vice President of Ethics told him that he wopkdsonallysuffer “ramifications”if
he did so. ECF No. 10, at {1 165. Dr. Underwood continued to complain thkeofatlure to
report complications and patient deaths in 2013 and 28&4.idat 11 18639 (May 2013), 190
91 (June 2013), 20BApril 2014), 207(June 2014) In July 2014, Dr. Underwood was allegedly
forced to undergo a founonth training course at the University of Rochester, and when he
returned with positive performance reviews he was forced to take anothemeigttt leave of
absence from the hospitdld. at 22223. Drawing all reasonable inferences in Dr. Underwood’s
favor, these facts are sufficient to plausibly suggest that the adverdeyerapt actions he
suffered after July 28, 2014 were taken because of his repeated complaintthakéotogy
Departmerits failureto report complications and patient deaths.

B. Section 741

Section 741,New York's health care wkileblower retaliationstatute, protects
employees who perform health care services for certain types of employéfsLaN. Law §

741(1)(a)fb). As relevant here, section 741 prohiletaployers fromtaking retaliatory action
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against an entpyeebecaus the employee “discloses or threatens to disclose to a supervisor, or
to a public body an activity, policy or practice of the employer or agent thantpéoyee, in
good faith, reasonably believes constitutes improper quality of patient cldt®.” Lab.Law §
741(2)(a). The term “improper quality of patient care” is defined to mean “any practice . . .
which violates any law . . . where such violation relates to matters which magnfpies
substantial and specific danger to public health or safety igndicant threat to the health of a
specific patient.” N.Y. Lab. Law § 741(1)(d)Claims under section 741 must be commenced
“within two years after the alleged retaliatory personnel action was takery” Lab. Law 88§
741(4), 740(4)(d). Accordingly, the relevant cubff date for the purpose of Dr. Underwood’s
section 74Xklaimis July 28, 2013.

Again, the Court finds that Dr. Underwood states a claim for retaliation wipeceso
his complaints about the failure to report complications and patient deaths, but notsp&itt re
to his complaints about mismanagement of the Prostate Database or the disruptions in his
schedule. Although the standard under section 741 is lower than the standard under 740 because
a plaintiff need only allege a good faitieasonable belief that the employer’s actions constitute
“improper quality of patient care,” the term “improper quality of patient carelefned to
require a “substantial and specific danger to public health or safety amificaigt threat to the
hedth of a specific patient.”N.Y. Lab. Law 8§ 741Minogue v. Good Samaritan Hos{d00
A.D.3d 64, 6970 (2d Dep’'t2012) In other words, to state a claim under section& plaintiff
must still plausibly allege a good faith, reasonable belief that th@ogar's actionsactually
created a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety or a angrilfreat to the
health of a specific patientWith respect to complaintgbout mismanagement of the Prostate
Database and the disruptions in his schedule, Dr. Underwood’s Amended Complaint falls shor

of that standard.See, e.g.ECF No. 10, at  205alleging that“Dr. Underwood repeatedly
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voiced his concern over the quality of information in the database, which pateldtiallyresult
in incorrect research, resulting in substantial and specific dandgbe tpublic health or safély
(emphasis added).

In sum, the Court finds that Dr. Underwosthtes a claim fowhistleblower retaliation
under New York Labor Lavsections 740 and 741However, sich claimsmust belimited to
alleged retaliation in response to Dr. Underwgocbmplaints about thdrology Departmens
failure to report surgical complications apdtient deathsFurther,such claimsnust be limited
to alleged retaliatory actions that wéa&enwithin the relevant statutoperiod

V. Breach of Contract

Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park argue that Dr. Underwood fails to state a claim &whbre
of contract. The Court agrees.

In Mason v. Cent. Suffolk Hos@B N.Y.3d 343(2004) the New York Court of Appeals
held that “no action for damages may be based on a violation of medical staff byldess
clear language in the bylaws creates a right to that felief. at 346. The Courbf Appeals
reasoned thain general,“[i] t is preferable for hospital administrators who decide whether to
grant or deny staff privileges to make those decisions free from the threataafames action
against the hospitél. Id. at 348. That being saidthe Court of Appeals also acknowledged that
“[a] clearly written contract, granting privileges to a doctor for a fixedodeof time, and
agreeing not to withdraw those privileges except for specified causehemdhforced.” Id. at
348-49.

Here Dr. Underwoodseeks money damages based on the violation of Roswell Park
bylaws during the peer review process that led to his staff privileges leswiged. ECF No. 10,

at 11 294314. But dthough Dr. Underwood alleges thtie peer review processolated
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VI.

VII.

Roswell Park’s bylaws in several ways, ECF No. 10, at { 311, he does notthdedelear
language in the bylaws” creates a right to money damddgason 3 N.Y.3d at 346.

Dr. Underwood citeKaufman v. Columbia Mem’l Hosp2 F. Supp. 3d 265, 281
(N.D.N.Y. 2014) in response to Defendants’ motions to dismiss. ECF No. 22;23t 2t
Kaufman the plaintiff showed that his employment agreement with the hospital “explicitly
incorporates the Medical Staff Byaws by reference.’Kaufman 2 F. Supp. 3d at 281. Here, by
contrast, Dr. Underwood does not allege that his employment agreement witlelIRPark
explicitly stated that his privileges would only be revoked in accordanteRuiswell Park by
laws. SeeECF No. 10, at 11 29314. Therefore, DrUnderwood’s allegations are insufficient
to state alaim for breach of contract

Health Care Quality | mprovement Act

Dr. Mohler and Roswell Park argue that Dr. Underwood’s purported claims under the
HCQIA should be dismissed because the HCQIA does not provide a private right of actlon. EC
No. 151, at 24; ECF No. 18, at 25. In response, Dr. Underwood states thatgrispdsed
Second Amended Complaint makes [Defendants’] point moot.” ECF No. 22, &c28usao
Second Amended Complaimixists on the Court’'slocket, and Dr. Underwood has not filed a
motion to amend his Amended Complaitite Court interprets this statement to mean that Dr.
Underwood no longer wishes to pursue a claim for relief under the HCQIA.

Claims Against Does 1-50

Dr. Mohler and RoswelPark argue that Dr. Underwood’s claims against “Do&§"1
should be dismissed. ECF No.-15at 2425; ECF No. 161, at 25. In response, Dr.
Underwood states that hiproposedSecond Amended Complaint makes [Defendants’] point
moot.” ECF No. 22, at 29. Because 8econd Amended Complaimxists on the Court’s

docket, and Dr. Underwood has not filed a motion to amend his Amended Complaint, the Court
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interprets this statement to mean that Dr. Underwood no longer wishes to paoysaims
against Does-50.

VIIl. Punitive Damages Against Roswell Park

Finally, Roswell Park argues thétis immune from punitive damagéxecause it is a
public benefit corporation heavily supported by tax dollars and performingsaantial
governmental function. ECF No. 16 at 58. Dr. Underwood does not contest thasWwell
Parkshould betreated as a municipality or that itimmune from punitive damages state law
claims underClark-Fitzpatrick, Inc. v. Long Island.R. Co, 70 N.Y.2d 382, 38§1987) but
rather assest—without elaboration+hat he may still recover punitive damages against Roswell
Park under federdaw. ECF No. 23, at 2. Dr. Underwdadargument is unavailinbecause the
federal stautes under which he seeks réligamely Title Vilandsection 1983, do ngermit the
award of punitive damages against a municipalByown v. BaldwirlUnion Free Sch. Dist603
F. Supp. 2d 509, 5189 (E.D.N.Y. 2009)(citing City of Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inet53
U.S. 247, 271(1981)) see also42 U.S.C. § 1981a)(1). Therefore,Dr. Underwood is
precluded from recovering punitive damages against Roswell Park.

CONCLUSION

For thereasons stated abowae motions to dismiss filed byr. Mohler (ECF No. 15)
andRoswell ParKECF No. 16)are GRANTED IN PART ANDDENIED IN PART.

Specifically, the motions are GRANTED with respect to

e Claimsagainst Dr. Mohler under Title VII;

e Discrete discrimination and retaliatiattaims against Roswell Park under
Title VIl regardingacts that occurred before December 19, 2013;

e Discrete discrimination and retaliation claimsder the NYSHRL regarding

acts that occurred before July 28, 2012;
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e Discrete discrimination claimsnder section 1983 regardiagts that occurred
before July 28, 2012;

e Claims under section 1983 against Dr. Mohler in his official capacity;

e Claims seekingndependentelief undersection 1981;

e Claims under New York Labor La® 740 regarding acts of retaliation that
occurred before July 28, 2014;

e Claims under New York Labor La® 741regarding acts of retaliation dh
occurred before July 28, 2013;

e Whistleblower retaliation claimsgardingDr. Underwoots complaints about
mismanagement othe Prostate Database and disruptions in his clinical
schedule;

e The breach of contract claim against Dr. Mohler angviradl Park

e Claims seeking relief under the HCQIA,

e Claims againsboes 150; and

e Dr. Underwood’s request for punitive damages against Roswell Park.

The motions are DENIED in all other respects.

IT IS SO ORDERED

Dated:January 13, 2017

Rochester, New York W Z Q

HON. FRAXK P. GERACI, J
Chief Judge
United States District Court
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